# FILED

08/11/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0246

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0246

SADDLEBROOK INVESTMENTS, LLC, as Assignee of STUART M. SIMONSEN,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

KROHNE FUND L.P.,

Defendant and Appellee.

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, the Honorable Jessica T. Fehr, Presiding

T. Thomas Singer Amanda G. Hunter Greyson D. Hill Hall & Evans, LLC 175 N. 27<sup>th</sup> Street, Ste. 1101 Billings, MT 59101 Telephone: (406) 969-5227 singert@hallevans.com huntera@hallevans.com

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the District Court err when it amended the scheduling order and allowed Krohne Fund to file a motion for summary judgment asserting an unpled affirmative defense of judicial estoppel long after all pretrial deadlines had passed?

2. Did the District Court err in granting summary judgment against Saddlebrook's claim for malicious prosecution based on judicial estoppel when that claim accrued after the trustee in Simonsen's bankruptcy had assigned and abandoned it?

3. Did the District Court err in granting summary judgment against the claim for abuse of process that the trustee had authorized and pursued?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stuart Simonsen developed an algorithm-based securities trading system in which Defendant Krohne Fund, L.P., invested millions of dollars. Krohne Fund ("Krohne" or "Fund") sued Simonsen in 2012 for fraud and related claims alleging Simonsen had made manual trades that undermined the performance of the algorithmic trading program and caused Krohne financial loss. <sup>1</sup> However, Fund's manager, Axel Krohne, testified at trial that he didn't have any evidence to support the claims at the time he authorized the suit to be filed, or at any time after that.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *Krohne Fund, LP v. Simonsen*, U.S. District Court, District of Montana, Billings Division, Cause No. CV-12-04-BLG-SEH. The case was initially assigned to Hon. Richard F. Cebull, who was later replaced by Hon. Sam E. Haddon.

After a trial, a Ninth Circuit appeal, and an order granting summary judgment, Krohne's claims against Simonsen were finally dismissed with prejudice in late 2017.

Meanwhile, the harm caused by Krohne's lawsuit led Simonsen to declare bankruptcy. Consequently, his assets, including claims he had against Krohne, became property of the bankruptcy estate managed by Trustee Darcy Crum. In 2015, the Trustee authorized this case to be filed in order to preserve the claims against Krohne from being time barred.

A year later, the Trustee settled an adversary proceeding she had filed against Grizzly Peak, L.P., an entity Simonsen's ex-wife managed. In return for a \$400,000 payment to the estate, the Trustee assigned to Grizzly Peak "any and all claims ... against ... any ... person or entity, known or unknown." Settlement Agreement (CR 88, Ex. 24, ¶ 10).<sup>2</sup> Later, the Trustee filed a notice of intent to abandon the Krohne litigation, which was then pending before the Ninth Circuit. Though notice of both developments went to all creditors, including Krohne, no objection was filed to either action.

Thus, before Krohne's suit was dismissed, all claims Simonsen had against Krohne were assigned to Grizzly Peak. Soon after the dismissal, Grizzly Peak assigned the claims to Saddlebrook Investments, LLC, as part of an agreement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All references to the Case Record (CR) are to the district court docket entry number.

dissolving Simonsen's marriage. Shortly thereafter, Saddlebrook filed and served the Amended Complaint in this action, asserting the malicious prosecution claim that had accrued just months earlier, as well as the abuse of process claim that the trustee had authorized and pursued. The bankruptcy case closed later that year.

Krohne's counsel conducted little discovery and made a conscious decision not to seek summary judgment. However, in January 2022, seven months after the summary judgment deadline, Krohne substituted counsel and sought leave to amend its answer and file a late motion for summary judgment asserting a judicial estoppel defense Krohne had not pled, and on which no discovery had been taken by any party. Krohne was allowed to proceed on its new theory, which was based on the argument that Saddlebrook could not pursue this action because the claims were not disclosed in Simonsen's bankruptcy. The District Court agreed and granted summary judgment. Order (CR 106); Judgment (CR 118). Saddlebrook appeals from that Order and the Judgment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The "facts" presented in the District Court's order granting summary judgment misstate the procedural history of the underlying case and other undisputed evidence. Of course, this case was not presented to the District Court on the merits; there was no trial, and the summary judgment motion did not address the merits. As a result, the record does not include evidence refuting the

3

District Court's misstatements of fact. Saddlebrook will address the misstatements in footnotes and is willing to supplement the record if appropriate.

To assist this Court by providing some context, Saddlebrook will summarize relevant factual allegations in the Amended Complaint before restating the undisputed facts that were presented to the District Court.

#### **Factual Allegations in Complaint**

#### 1. Krohne Fund Invests.

Stuart M. Simonsen developed a proprietary, algorithm-based securities trading system best known as Xynaquant. CR 7, ¶¶ 2, 10-11.<sup>3</sup> Around 2007, Simonsen met a commodities trader from New York named Anthony Birbilis, who would later partner with Simonsen to form Kapidyia Capital Partners, LLC, to market investment services utilizing Xynaquant. *Id.*, ¶¶ 3, 12-13. In August 2011, Axel Krohne, the manager of Defendant Krohne Fund, LP, was introduced to Simonsen through Mr. Krohne's friend Sean Wright. Mr. Krohne met Simonsen briefly, decided to invest with Kapidyia, and signed a Managed Account Agreement that gave Kapidyia discretionary authority over account trades. *Id.*, ¶¶

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The District Court describes Simonsen as an investment manager, but no party in this case made that assertion, and there is no evidence to support it. Also, it is not true. Judge Haddon found that Simonsen "designed and improved the trading software … now called Xynaquant and trading strategies, including the Optimus SLR 10 protocol." CR 88, Ex. 8, p. 2. At the trial before Judge Haddon, Simonsen testified specifically that he is not an investment adviser, but that transcript is not in the record. Trial Tr., 492:5-15.

4-5, 14-18.<sup>4</sup> The account quickly turned a profit, so Mr. Krohne increased his investment to a notional value of 15,000,000. *Id.*, ¶ 19.

Around that time, Birbilis provided instruction about Xynaquant to Mr. Krohne along with Wright, who then was able to access the program, thereby observing the algorithm and mimicking the trades. *Id.*, ¶ 29. Wright and his friend David Tolliver were interested in acquiring Xynaquant and made efforts to pressure Simonsen to sell, as evidenced by Tolliver's email to Wright saying, "a guy whose been kicked in the nuts is probably more likely to accept / ask for help at a reasonable price". *Id.*, ¶ 30.

### 2. Krohne Fund Stops Trading and Sues Simonsen.

After a few months, the performance of Kapidyia's account deteriorated, and Krohne stopped trading in Xynaquant. *Id.*,  $\P$  20<sup>5</sup>.

In January 2012, Krohne Fund filed suit in Montana Federal District Court, asserting fraud and other claims. Krohne alleged that Simonsen had intentionally caused the losses by making manual trades in the account (as opposed to trades determined by the algorithm). *Id.*, ¶ 21. Simonsen denied he made manual trades

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The District Court asserts that Krohne "was reassured by Simonsen of the fact that his money would stay strictly in the program to be invested within preset algorithmic parameters and would therefore not be subject to human interactions." In fact, Alex Krohne testified that Simonsen made no such representation or reassurance, and Judge Haddon's findings state the opposite of what the District Court asserts. CR 88, Ex. 8, ¶ 8; CR 88, Ex. 21, pp. 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The District Court asserts that "[n]either Simonsen nor Birbilis could explain the differences [in performance] relative to the Xynaquant program." In fact, Judge Haddon found there was no evidence that Krohne asked Simonsen about this. CR 88, Ex. 21, p. 7, n. 24.

and presented evidence proving the manual trades had been executed by Birbilis. *Id.*,  $\P$  28.

#### **Statement of Undisputed Facts**

The claims Saddlebrook is currently pursuing in this action are premised on Krohne's federal litigation, where Mr. Krohne admitted he authorized the suit to be filed and proceeded to trial without having any evidence to support his claims. *Id.*, ¶¶ 22-33, 38-46, 58-60.

Saddlebrook had no opportunity to present to the District Court evidence proving its claims in this case because Krohne moved for summary judgment based on judicial estoppel, and the District Court granted that motion even though the motion was made after discovery closed. Even so, Saddlebrook attached undisputed evidence that should have defeated the affirmative defense to its briefing on the summary judgment motions. That evidence is presented here.

# **3.** Simonsen Files for Bankruptcy; the Trustee Takes Control of the Litigation.

A little over a year into the federal litigation, Simonsen discovered he had viable claims against Krohne and others for contractual breaches, misappropriation of trade secrets and other causes of action. CR 96, Ex. 1; see also, id., Ex. 2, p. 3. Simonsen moved to amend the scheduling order and sought leave to file an amended answer with new counterclaims and third-party claims. CR 88, Ex. 1. The motion to amend the scheduling order was denied, and the case proceeded to

6

trial on Krohne's claims.<sup>6</sup>

However, a few days before trial, the litigation was stayed when Simonsen filed a chapter seven petition for bankruptcy.<sup>7</sup> CR 88, Ex. 5. Accordingly, the claims Simonsen had attempted to assert in the federal litigation became part of the bankruptcy estate. Krohne moved to lift the stay, and trial was reset. CR 88, Ex. 7. Trial concluded on July 2, and judgment was entered two weeks later in favor of Simonsen, dismissing Krohne's claims with prejudice. CR 88, Ex. 8. Krohne subsequently appealed to the Ninth Circuit.<sup>8</sup> CR 88, Ex. 11. After counsel received approval and authorization from the Trustee, Simonsen cross-appealed, seeking review of the federal District Court's decision regarding Simonsen's proposed counterclaims and third-party claims.<sup>9</sup> CR 88, Ex. 13; Aff. Crum (CR 97, ¶ 6).

# 4. The Trustee Settles the Adversary Proceeding, Assigning All Claims to Grizzly Peak, which Later Assigns Them to Saddlebrook.

While the appeals were pending, the Trustee in Simonsen's bankruptcy case litigated an adversary complaint against entities in which Simonsen had ownership

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Leave regarding the proposed counterclaims was not explicitly denied; however, Simonsen was discouraged from litigating them in order to avoid disrupting the case's schedule. Tr. Jun. 6, 2013; CR 88, Ex. 4, pp. 47-51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *In re Stuart Michael Simonsen*, U.S. Bankruptcy Court, District of Montana, Cause No. 14-60015-7-BPH. The case was initially assigned to Hon. Ralph B. Kirscher, who was later replaced by Hon. Benjamin P. Hursh.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Krohne Fund v. Stuart Simonsen, et al., U.S. Court of Appeals, 9th Circuit, Cause No. 14-35668.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Cause No. 14-35713.

or management interests, including Grizzly Peak, L.P.<sup>10</sup> CR 88, Ex. 28. In March 2016, the adversary proceeding was settled under an agreement that broadly assigned nearly all of the Trustee's claims to Grizzly Peak, including any claims against Krohne.<sup>11</sup> CR 88, Ex. 24, ¶ 10. In return for a \$400,000 payment to the estate, the Trustee assigned to Grizzly Peak "any and all claims … against … any … person or entity, known or unknown." CR 88, Ex. 24, ¶ 10.<sup>12</sup>

Notice of the settlement was provided to creditors, none objected, and the settlement was approved the following month. Order (CR 88, Ex. 25). Later that year, counsel checked in with the Trustee to confirm the estate's position with respect to the claims against Krohne, which were then being pursued through Simonsen's cross-appeal in the 9th Circuit. The Trustee replied in an email, "I don't think the estate has the funds or stamina to keep the case open for as long as it seems it will take this to resolve. I can't remember what if anything I did on the Krohne case as an asset of the bankruptcy. I will look into it ... and see if I need to abandon it." Dec. 15, 2016 emails (CR 88, Ex. 17); Aff. Crum (CR 97, ¶ 10). Shortly thereafter, the Trustee filed a notice to abandon the Krohne litigation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Darcy M. Crum v. Grizzly Peak, L.P. et al., Adv. Proc. No. 14-00025-BPH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Settlement Agreement provided for the Trustee to retain claims or potential claims against a specific list of parties which did not include Axel Krohne or Krohne Fund. Aff. Crum (CR 97,  $\P$  9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The District Court asserts that Simonsen "actively assigned" his claims against Krohne Fund "to Grizzly Peak" and "failed to reopen the bankruptcy ... to amend his schedules." Order (CR 106, p. 11). But Simonsen did not own the claims when they were assigned to Grizzly Peak. The Trustee did that. Aff. Crum (CR 97, ¶ 9); CR 88, Ex. 24, ¶ 10.

appeal as burdensome and of inconsequential value to the estate, which was approved without objection. CR 88, Ex. 18, p. 1; Aff. Crum (CR 97,  $\P$  10).

While the appeals and bankruptcy proceedings were pending, this action had been filed in April 2015. CR 1. Prior to filing, undersigned counsel sought and received approval and authorization from his client, who was the Trustee since Simonsen's claims belonged to the bankruptcy estate. Aff. Crum (CR 97,  $\P$  8); Aff. Simonsen (CR 98,  $\P$  6); Tr. Feb. 17, 2022, 15:16-17, 15:25, 17:13-14. In an email exchange discussing the Complaint, the Trustee expressed her approval to file, stating, "I don't know the value of the claims but I agree we need to preserve them." Apr. 2, 2015 emails (CR 88, Ex. 16); *see also* Aff. Crum (CR 97,  $\P$  8); Complaint (CR 1,  $\P\P$  88-96, 107-109). Since her intent was to preserve the claims against Krohne, no further action was taken in this case until the federal litigation resolved.

## 5. Krohne Fund's Suit against Simonsen Is Finally Dismissed; Saddlebrook Continues to Pursue the Litigation Against Krohne.

The Ninth Circuit reversed Judge Haddon in part. On remand, Simonsen moved for summary judgment, which was entered on October 16, 2017. CR 88, Ex. 22.

A few months later, after Grizzly Peak assigned the claims to Saddlebrook in Simonsen's divorce, Saddlebrook filed and served the Amended Complaint. CR 7, 98, ¶¶ 10-11; CR 97, ¶¶ 9-11; CR 86, Ex. L<sup>13</sup>.

Motions to dismiss were filed. While they were pending, the bankruptcy finally closed at the end of 2018. CR 88, Ex. 23. About the same time, the District Court in this case dismissed all claims except those for malicious prosecution, abuse of process, and conspiracy to commit malicious prosecution and abuse of process arising from Krohne's federal suit. Order (CR 43, p. 24). About a year later, Saddlebrook requested a scheduling conference, and the Court entered a scheduling order that set trial for October 14, 2021 and fixed May 11, 2021 as the close of discovery and June 1, 2021 as the deadline for filing summary judgment motions. CR 59.

As the June 1 summary judgment deadline neared, Krohne's counsel asked for a one-week extension, which was granted, but Krohne did not file a motion, explaining in an email that "[a]s we did not believe we could dispose of all claims on summary judgment, we decided not to file." Jun. 7, 2021 emails (CR 88, Ex. 26).

On September 20, the District Court vacated the October trial date because the case was a "procedural cluster", and a criminal trial was set for the same day.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The District Court states that Krohne's suit "ultimately resolved in 2014 in favor of Simonsen." Order (CR 106, p. 5). In fact, it was not resolved until three years later in November 2017 after Simonsen prevailed on his post-remand summary judgment motion, and Krohne filed no appeal. Aff. Crum (CR 97, ¶ 11); CR 88, Exs. 21-22.

CR 69.

# 6. Krohne's New Counsel Presents a New and Unpled Affirmative Defense.

The following month Krohne filed a notice of substitution of counsel. Another attorney from the same firm stepped in and immediately filed a motion to vacate the trial that was then scheduled for March. Notice (CR 82); Motion (CR 83). Krohne next sought leave to file an amended answer and a related motion for summary judgment asserting a new affirmative defense of judicial estoppel. Motion (CR 85); Motion (CR 86); *see also* Tr. Feb. 17, 2022, 13:15-17.<sup>14</sup> Krohne's new counsel asserted that he "determined" it was "necessary" to amend Krohne's answer when he reviewed the matter and came to believe that "Saddlebrook [was] attempting to manipulate the court and take a position inconsistent to Simonsen's position in his bankruptcy." Tr. Feb. 17, 2022, 13:15-17; Motion (CR 85, p. 4).

Krohne had not deposed Simonsen and had no direct evidence regarding Simonsen's motivations. Krohne's counsel complained that prior counsel had conducted insufficient discovery without acknowledging that he sought summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> "[E]stoppel is an affirmative defense which must be pled and proved by the party raising it." *Booth v. Argenbright*, 225 Mont. 272, 279, 731 P.2d 1318, 1322 (1987) (citing Rule 8(c), M.R.Civ.P.)

judgment on an affirmative defense for which no discovery had been taken.<sup>15</sup> Counsel's five-page motion consisted mostly of conclusory statements. CR 85. His request for leave to file a motion for summary judgment seven months after the June 2021 deadline was a four-page pleading, which again consisted almost entirely of conclusory statements. CR 86. Saddlebrook opposed both motions.

The District Court heard oral argument and then amended the scheduling order to allow Krohne to move for summary judgment based on judicial estoppel. Scheduling Order (CR 93). The only reason the District Court offered for allowing the motion was that "[h]aving reviewed [Krohne's] motion for leave to file a late motion for summary judgment … based on the good cause presented in the filings [and] at oral argument, the Court will allow the filing".<sup>16</sup> *Id*.

Krohne and Saddlebrook filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The District Court granted Krohne's motion and denied Saddlebrook's on the grounds that Simonsen had actual knowledge of the claims against Krohne during his bankruptcy, so his "decision" to not formally schedule the claims was an inconsistent position "done to deceive the bankruptcy court and his creditors". Order (CR 106, p. 9). The District Court reasoned that Simonsen had "actual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Tr. Feb. 17, 2022, 11:21-12:6. Later, counsel admitted Saddlebrook had disclosed its intent to use the discovery from the federal action, and the District Court suggested he confer with counsel to obtain those materials. *Id.*, 23:9-24:21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The Order also stated that an order regarding the motion to amend was "forthcoming", but no written order ever issued.

knowledge" because he had cooperated with "his" attorney<sup>17</sup> in preserving the claims, and he had knowledge through "his" attorney because counsel communicated with the Trustee and filed this action. *Id.*, 12. The Court also said Simonsen had "actively assigned [the claims] to Grizzly Peak Limited Partnership"<sup>18</sup> and failed to "reopen the bankruptcy" to amend his schedules to include them. *Id.*, 11.<sup>19</sup>

Saddlebrook appeals from the Order granting summary judgment in favor of Krohne and the judgment in favor of Krohne. Judgment (CR 118).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"A district court's ruling on a motion for leave to amend is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *Seamster v. Musselshell Cnty. Sheriff's Office*, 2014 MT 84, ¶ 6, 374 Mont. 358, 359-60, 321 P.3d 829, 830. Likewise, this Court "review[s] a district court's decision regarding a motion to amend a complaint for abuse of discretion." *Hickey v. Baker Sch. Dist. No. 12*, 2002 MT 322, ¶ 12, 313 Mont. 162, 165, 60 P.3d 966, 969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> At that time, counsel represented the Trustee, not Simonsen. Aff. Simonsen (CR 98,  $\P$  6). <sup>18</sup> The assignment was made by the Trustee, not Simonsen. Aff. Crum (CR 97,  $\P$  9); CR 88, Ex. 24,  $\P$  10.

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