10/11/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0246

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 23-0246

SADDLEBROOK INVESTMENTS,)
LLC, as Assignee of Stuart M.)
Simonsen,)
)
Plaintiff and Appellant,)
)
and)
)
KROHNE FUND, L.P.,)
)
Defendant and Appellee.)

BRIEF OF THE DEFENDANT AND APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE MONTANA THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT YELLOWSTONE COUNTY HONORABLE JESSICA T. FEHR PRESIDING

For Plaintiff/Appellant: For Defendant/Appellee:

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court properly granted Krohne's Motion for Summary Judgment against Saddlebrook based on the affirmative defense of judicial estoppel. First, the District Court properly permitted Krohne to amend its Answer and assert the affirmative defense of judicial estoppel pursuant to Rule 8 M.R.Civ.P. *Rule 8(1) M.R.Civ.P.* The District Court duly inquired regarding what, if any, prejudice Saddlebrook would experience based upon this amendment. *MH*² 11:21 – 12:9. Based on the pleadings before the Court and evidence and testimony submitted during oral argument, the District Court properly determined Krohne was permitted to amend its answer.

² All references to the Motions Hearing before the District Court on February 17, 2022, shall be designated MH with the page and line numbers specified.

Second, based on Krohne's affirmative defense of judicial estoppel, the District Court properly granted summary judgment in Krohne's favor based on Simonsen's failure to amend his schedules, thus preventing Saddlebrook from attaining an unfair advantage to the detriment of Simonsen's creditors.

ARGUMENT

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in granting Krohne's motion to amend to assert a judicial estoppel defense because justice required the amendment based upon Simonsen's failure to amend his bankruptcy schedules. CR 93; *See Also MH* 9:15 – 11:6; 11:21 – 14:24. Following the appropriate amendment of Krohne's Answer, the District Court properly granted summary judgment against Saddlebrook based on Simonsen's failure to amend his bankruptcy disclosures. CR 106.

As a preliminary matter, and before advancing to the substantive legal arguments in this appeal, it is necessary to address Saddlebrook's improper attempt to introduce evidence into the record on appeal that was never admitted before the District Court and was not available to the District Court for review.

1. Evidence That Was Not Admitted Before the District Court Cannot be Considered on Appeal.

In Appellant's Opening Brief, it recites a litany of "facts" and "evidence" from other legal proceedings that was never admitted into evidence before the District Court in this matter. Evidence that was not properly admitted before the District Court cannot be considered on appeal.

Rule 8 M.R.App.P. provides in part "the original papers and exhibits filed in the district court, the transcript of proceedings, if any, and a certified copy of the docket entries prepared by the clerk of district court shall constitute the record on appeal in all cases." Rule 8(1) M.R.App.P. Beginning on page 4 of Appellant's Opening Brief, Saddlebrook introduces facts not in evidence before the District Court for review and consideration by this Court. See Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 4. Saddlebrook fortuitously argues that the District Court misstated facts in reaching its conclusions on Summary Judgment, but Saddlebrook now relies upon information it failed to present during the briefings and hearings at issue. Id. In some of its responsive pleadings, Saddlebrook provided limited emails, partial transcripts, incomplete filings, and affidavits to the District Court that Saddlebrook admitted it had not disclosed in discovery. Saddlebrook is now providing this Court with its self-serving narrative relating to the separate federal lawsuit between Krohne Fund and Simonsen. Notably, Saddlebrook had failed to enter complete evidence of this separate lawsuit into the District Court record and, accordingly, the District Court had no opportunity to consider it when reaching its decision on the cross-motions for summary judgment. *Id.*, p. 17, \P 2; *See Also* CR 96 – 98.

This is not the first time Saddlebrook has attempted to bootstrap an argument in footnotes, as Saddlebrook included over a one-half page footnote in Plaintiff's Brief Before Hearing on Damages arguing against the District Court's prior Order

Granting Krohne's Motion for Summary Judgment. CR 111, p. 3; *See Also* CR 106. Saddlebrook now attempts, again, to introduce new evidence that was never properly made a part of the record to the District Court. This Court has condemned such conduct.

In *State v. MacKinnon*, exhibits and testimony in the form of a written letter were provided for the first time on appeal. *State v. MacKinnon*, 288 Mont. 329, 957 P.2d 23, 26 (1998). Assertions were made for the first time regarding a book that may have been read, results of polygraph exams, and motives. *Id.* This Court condemned this practice and reminded the attorneys "that the parties on appeal are bound by the record and may not add additional matters in briefs or appendices." *Id.* citing *State v. Hatfield*, 256 Mont. 340, 846 P.2d 1025, 1028 (1993); *State v. Puzio*, 182 Mont. 163, 595 P.2d 1163, 1164 (1979).

The matters on appeal are limited to the bounds of the record and counsel is not permitted to add additional matters in their briefs. *Hatfield*, 846 P.2d 1025. This Court has firmly stated "[w]e will not tolerate an attempt to introduce extraneous information into the proceedings." *MacKinnon*, 957 P.2d 23, 26; citing *State v. Hall*, 203 Mont. 528, 662 P.2d 1306, 1312 (1983). Although this Court has continually upheld this position, Saddlebrook is attempting to introduce evidence that was not a part of the District Court record in an effort to bolster its argument on appeal. Accordingly, attempts Saddlebrook makes to introduce evidence and argument

regarding the proceedings in the separate federal court lawsuit – that were not admitted in the District Court record – should not be considered by this Court on appeal.

2. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Granting Leave to Krohne to Amend Its Answer.

The District Court's determination to grant leave to Krohne to amend its answer to set forth the affirmative defense of judicial estoppel was not an abuse of discretion. District courts are given broad discretion to permit amendments of the pleadings. Moreover, the District Court here carefully considered all of the facts and circumstances in this case, entertained full briefing, and held oral argument with the parties, before determining justice required permitting Krohne to amend its answer.

A. The District Court Explicitly Considered Whether Or Not Granting Leave Would Be Burdensome Or Prejudicial.

Rule 15(a), M.R.Civ.P. provides in part "[...] a party may amend its pleadings only with the opposing party's written consent or the court's leave. The court should freely give leave when justice so requires." *Rule 15(a)(2) M.R.Civ.P.* The undersigned contacted Mr. Singer, counsel for Saddlebrook, and inquired whether he would object to Krohne amending its answer and to a motion to vacate the jury trial in this matter. *See* CR 87 & 88. Saddlebrook objected, and Krohne subsequently sought leave from the District Court to amend its answer pursuant to Rule 15(a)(2) M.R.Civ.P. CR 85. The contested Motion to Amend was fully briefed and the

District Court entertained oral argument from the parties at a hearing held on February 17, 2022. MH 4:10-5:13.

This Court has previously held "[t]he decision to grant or deny a motion to amend a pleading lies within the discretion of the district court, and we will reverse its decision only for an abuse of that discretion." *Gursky v. Parkside Professional Village*, 258 Mont. 148, 852 P.2d 569, 571 (1993). Although leave should be given when justice requires, it should not be automatic. *Rolan v. New West Health Services*, 389 Mont. 228, 405 P.3d 65, 68 (2017). District Courts are directed to inquire whether the opposing party would suffer prejudice. *Id*.

During oral argument, the District Court directly queried the parties regarding whether the Amendment would be burdensome and prejudicial to Saddlebrook. *MH* 9:18 – 10:3. Krohne established there had been little to no discovery in this matter, no depositions had been taken, and there was no undue expense. *Id.* at 11:21 – 12:9. Ultimately, the District Court reasoned that allowing the amendment and allowing Krohne to assert the judicial estoppel affirmative defense was not overly burdensome or prejudicial to Saddlebrook. CR 93.

Furthermore, it was clear that the District Court would have to vacate the original trial date due to a criminal matter set before the same judge on the same date that was proceeding to trial. Id. at 26:20-27:4. Coincidentally, undersigned counsel was also representing the criminal defendant in the conflicting matter. Id. This clear

scheduling conflict was also presented in the briefing on amendment as well as presented during oral argument on February 17th. *Id.* at 8:12 – 9:12; 26:20 – 27:1; *See Also* CR 87.

Saddlebrook attempts to argue again on appeal that Krohne's prior counsel stated an opinion in an email that he was not going to file a motion for summary judgment in the case and that this informal opinion should somehow be dispositive of the Court's decision on allowing Amendment of the Answer. *See* CR 88, Exhibit 26; *See Also Appellant's Opening Brief*, p. 17. Krohne was represented by different counsel on the Motion to Amend and, clearly, the decision to file summary judgment on a judicial estoppel theory had not been previously considered. *MH* 24:4 – 24:8. Notably, the District Court considered Saddlebrook's argument about prior counsel's informal e-mail and did not find it compelling when making its ruling to allow Krohne to amend its Answer. CR 93. The District Court considered these factors and determined - without abusing its discretion - to permit Krohne to Amend its Answer and add the affirmative defense of judicial estoppel. *Id*.

B. Saddlebrook's Argument That The District Court Failed To Provide Reasons To Support Its Order Granting The Motion To Amend Is Unfounded.

Saddlebrook proffers that a district court not providing reasons for granting leave for a party to amend its answer can be an abuse of discretion. *Appellants Opening Brief*, p. 6, \P 2. Contrary to Saddlebrook's assertion, this Court has found

that in specific cases where the district court denies a motion to amend a pleading without valid reason, there may be a basis for finding an abuse of discretion. *Gursky*, 852 P.2d 569, 571. The difference between the District Court granting a motion to amend versus denying the motion to amend is paramount.

In *Gursky v. Parkside Professional Village*, the district court denied Gursky's motion to extend the scheduling order based upon medical procedures of counsel and the desire to join other parties. *Id.* at 570. The district court granted Gursky's request over Parkside's objection finding that "in its opinion and order that 'the interests of justice' would be served by extending the times set in its previous scheduling order. *Id.*

Nine days before the deadline of the new scheduling order, Gursky filed an amended complaint including new defendants. *Id.* Parkside moved to strike the amended complaint as Gursky had failed to seek leave of the Court as required pursuant to Rule 15(a), M.R.Civ.P. *Id.* The district court granted Parkside's motion to strike based on Gursky's failure to either obtain leave from the court or written consent by the opposing party and failure to respond to Parkside's motion to strike. *Id.* at 571.

There is a stark contrast between *Gursky* and the matter before this Court. First, Krohne properly sought leave of the District Court to Amend its Answer after conferring with opposing counsel, as required by Rule 15, M.R.Civ.P. *See* CR 87 &

88. Second, the District Court accepted full briefing, held a hearing on the contested motion, and specifically inquired whether granting leave would be overly burdensome and prejudicial to Saddlebrook. *MH* 9:18 – 10:3. Third, the District Court granted Krohne's motion for leave to file an Amended Answer "based on the good cause presented in the filings as well as at oral argument". CR 93, Line 21.

Just as in *Gursky* when the district court first permitted the extension of time in the scheduling order, the District Court here found good cause to permit the extension of time to amend the answer after weighing the prejudice on Saddlebrook. *See* CR 93. The evidence of record clearly shows Krohne complied with the requirements of Rule 15, M.R.Civ.P. in seeking leave to Amend its Answer by first conferring with opposing counsel then seeking leave of the District Court. The evidence of record further shows the District Court permitted full argument, including oral argument, on the contested motion and weighed the potential prejudice to Saddlebrook before granting the Motion to Amend. Good cause was shown for the amendment and the District Court did not abuse its discretion.

C. Saddlebrook Did Not Expend Substantial Effort And Expense Related To Krohne's Conduct.

Saddlebrook relies heavily on *Rolan v. New West Health Services* for the position that it was prejudiced by the District Court Granting leave to Amend. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, p. 17 – 19. This Court has previously found that undue prejudice could exist if a party had already expended substantial effort and expense

during the course of the matter which would be wasted if the party seeking leave to amend was granted leave. *See Rolan*, 405 P.3d 65, 68. This Court further found that "[a]lthough length of delay and stage of the proceedings are crucial factors, alone they may not warrant denying the amendment." *Id.* at 69.

Here, Saddlebrook admitted during the hearing on February 17, 2022, that it was not accusing Krohne of causing undue delay. *MH* p. 19:6 – 19:7. After conceding that there was no undue delay by Krohne, Saddlebrook argued that the prejudice is Saddlebrook's requirement to respond to a motion for summary judgment. *Id.* at 19:10 – 19:16. Saddlebrook further conceded at the hearing that it was Saddlebrook's intent to use discovery from the federal matter. *Id.* at 23:24 – 24:2.

The test set forth in *Rolan* is whether "the opposing party <u>already</u> had expended 'substantial effort and expense' in the course of the dispute that 'would be wasted' if the moving party were allowed to proceed on a new legal theory." *Rolan*, 405 P.3d 65, ¶ 16 (*citing Eagle Ridge Ranch v. Park County*, 283 Mont. 62, 68-69, 938 P.2d 1342, 1346 (1997) (emphasis added). Saddlebrook now appears to be asserting that Krohne is causing undue delay and is convoluting the costs of the federal cause of action with the matter before this Court. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, p. 19, ¶ 3. Saddlebrook continues to argue the costs associated with the federal cause

of action are to be considered in this matter, but that is not the test set forth by this Court. *Id*.

This holding in *Rolan* also stands for the proposition that litigants should only be permitted to change legal theories after a motion for summary judgment has been filed in extraordinary cases. See Rolan, 405 P.3d 65, ¶ 19 (citing Peuse v. Malkuch, 275 Mont. 221, 228, 911 P.2d 1153, 1157 (1996)). In this matter, Krohne did not seek leave to amend after summary judgment had been filed, but rather sought leave to Amend so that it could pursue summary judgment based upon an added affirmative defense. Accordingly, the District Court did not need to articulate extraordinary circumstances to justify granting leave for the amendment as there was no motion for summary judgment pending at the time leave to amend was granted. Id. at ¶16. Instead, the District Court must consider the prejudice versus the justification, and in its discretion either grant or deny leave. Id. The District Court properly granted leave to amend because there was no argument that substantial resources and efforts had already been expended by Saddlebrook related to Krohne's requested Amendment.

3. Saddlebrook's Argument Contradicts Its Conduct.

Saddlebrook opposed Krohne's Motion seeking leave to Amend its Answer and argues that because the pre-trial deadlines had passed the District Court abused its discretion in granting leave to Amend. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, p. 17.

Contrary to this position, however, Saddlebrook filed an unopposed motion for leave to file a cross-motion for summary judgment after the District Court granted Krohne leave to Amend. CR 94. Within Saddlebrook's motion, Saddlebrook provides "[b]y presenting a cross-motion, Saddlebrook intends to give the Court the opportunity to resolve the issue before trial." Id. at Lines 20 - 21. Saddlebrook argues that the District Court should not grant leave to Amend, but then seeks leave to file its own summary judgment, outside of the original deadlines, after leave is granted to Krohne to Amend its Answer.

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